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Highlights of History of Hoorn, North Holland 
by Richard H. Amerman, Editor de Hal,-e Maen. 

Former Zuyder Zee port once home of de 
Vries and other pioneers in America; 
Townhall model for Delaware museum. 

THE historic ties which link 
this country _ with the 

Netherlands are especially 
evident in the case of Hoorn, 
an old Zuyder Zee town 
chartered in 13 5 6.1 •f 

Its Townhall, depicted at 
right, became the model for 
a like building, shown below, 
erected in 19 31 at Lewes, 
Delaware, ~ commemorate 
the tercentenary of a settle­
ment founded there as Zwa­
anendael ( or Swanendael )', 
under the sponsorship of 
David Pieterszen de Vries. 

Nc.w York l'ublic l~ibr4t y 

David Pieters:; de Vries, 
famed explorer a,1d writ­
er of Dutch colony here. 

Hoorn, roo, like many mu­
nicipaliLies in North Holland, was the home of others 
who pioneered in New Netherland. More than a few 
descendants of those colonists arc or have been active 
in the Holland Society, which in 1906 presented a 
Dutch flag to the "Zwaanendael Society" at Lewes. 

Effectually barred from the sea in 1932 by the En­
closing Dam, which connected North Holland with 
Friesland and inaugurated the great task of reclaiming 
the Zuyder Zee, 1-loorn, today a prosperous town of about 
17,000 inhabitants, has a remarkable maritime history 
reaching back far into the past. As long ago as· 1416, 
men at Hoorn developed a type of drag-net which with 
the herring-buss, invented at Enkhuizen, became vital 
foctors" in the extraordinary growth of the fishing 
industry that produced· the seafarers for an era of 
Dutch maritime predominance. The period of Hol­
land's naval ascendancy, indeed, can be dated from 
l5 73 when the "Sea Beggars" crushingly defeated 
Bossu's Spanish fleet on the Zuyder Zee off Hoorn. 

A famous seaport during the "Golden Age," Hoorn 
in common with other Dutch towns at that time, used 
much of the wealth gained from commerce at home 
and far-distant parts of the world to erect or to beau­
tify buildings which still survive as monuments of a 
glorious history. Examples of impressive architecture 
abound in Hoorn: the T ownhall ( of which details arc 
set forth later in this article), the St. Jans Gasthuis, 
\o/cst-Fricsland Government House (now a museum), 
churches, weigh-house, gates, orphanages, and the East 
India Company's spacious warehouses built in 1606. 

Closely connected with two celebrated l 7tb century 
Durch commercial ventures from their inception -
the Ease India Compnny ( organized in 1602), and 
West India Company ( 162 1) - Hoorn also provided 
ndmin.isrr:icors, ship captnins and colonists in a great 

Rica ARO H. AMEJUdAS, Editor /9•H-•n and since J 958, 
graduatetl with honors from Middlibury Colleg11 and holds 
the J.D. degraa from New York Law School. M ember of the 
New York Bar, WW 11 vet11ran, and retirttd Anny Intelligence 
r-eserue officer, he was Bergen Branch President ,md Burgher 
Gunrd Captain. He and his wife have a d.aughter, four son.s, 

[ 9 J 

Couuesy of the Municipa.lhy of 80-0:n.1 

Townliali at H oorn, originall" two buildings conjoined in 
year 1429 and used for civic purposes after Reformation, 
has served the municifJality as its Stadhui.s si11ce 1795. 

Courteay of tbc: Dela.w8re State Archives 

Zwaanentkel Museum at Lewes, Del., a careful adaptation 
of Hoorn T ownhall, mBmorializes Dutch settlement in 1631, 
to whose establishment Delaware owes oxistence as State. 

age of exploration and overseas settlement. Hoorn was 
the birthplace of Jan Pieterszoon Coen ( 15 8 7 -1629) 
who founded the nation's long-held empire in the East 
Indies, and of Skipper Jan van Houten, who sailed 
round the coasts of South America and gave the name 
of his city to the Cape." With Hoorn are associated 
the names of Abel Janszoon Tasman (c.1602-1659) 
who discovered Tasmania, and of David Pieterszen de 

*Footnotes begin on Page 10. 



Vries, master mariner, explorer and writer, with whom 
much of the history of New Netherland is linked. 

By Section 18 of the West India Company charter 
of June 3, 16 2 1 ,4 the Sta tcs General vested executive 
powers in an "Assembly of Nineteen" to act on behalf 
of five directorates, or "Chambers," set up for as many 
geographical parts of the country in ratio to their 
financial participation. The Chamber of Amsterdam, 
where most of the money came from, represented four­
ninths of the Company capital, and had eight of the 
Nineteen. The Noordrrk:warfif!T, which included Hoorn 
and six other towns in present North Holland," had 
a one-ninth interest and two men of the Nineteen. 
In this manner Hoorn became identified with an en­
lerprisc which, having been awarded jurisdiction and 
well nigh sovereign powers over Dutch interests on 
portions of the coasts of America and Africa, would 
govern New Netherland until 1664. 

o promote colonization in New Netherland the 
Company on June 13, 1629, issued its charter of 
"Privileges and Exemptions'"' by which any member, 
who within four years planted a colony of fifty settlers 
along some navigable river, was to receive - if he 
"satisfied the Indians of that place" - a liberal land 
grant and the title of Patroon, with various privileges. 
Three days later Samuel Godyn, a Company director, 
gave notice of intention to take up land in the vicinity 
of Delaware Bay. Soon afterward he and a fcllow­
director, Samuel Blommaert, were given a tract in the 
present Stati: of Delaware fronting the Bay near Cape 
Henlopen. Three other men came in as partners in the 
patroonship: two to provide more capital, and one for 
his nautical experience, David Pietersz.en de Vries. 

Organized by de Vries, an expedition under orders 
to become self-sustaining and to set up a whaling sta­
tion, sailed from the Texel in December, 1630. Although 
a companion vessel was lose to pirates en route, the 
ship de Walvis, Skipper Pieter Heyes, landed a party 
of 28 men, their equipment and farm animals a few 
miles from Cape Henlopen the following April. Site 
of the settlement made was at a place named "Zwa­
ancndael," meaning valley of swans, near present Lewes 
on the right bank of Lewes River which the Hollanders, 
reportedly from Hoorn, arc said to have called Hoorn­
kill.' Ex pee ting no trouble from the Indians, the new­
comers nevertheless built a protective palisade and 
within it a large shdrer and cookhome, and sec to work 
on their assigned mission. 

Soon afterward tragedy intervened, for when de 
Vries arrived from Holland with fifty men as rein­
forcements in December, 1632, he found chat the 
Indians had destroyed Zwaanendael by fire and mas­
sacred its people, including four men who had travdlt:t! 
to the setclcment from New Amsterdam. No one 
survived.8 Informed of what took place, but without 
enough armed force to retaliate, de Vries remained 1)11 

the scene three months pacifying the natives by per­
suasion and seeking ways whereby to retrieve the situa­
tion. Short of food by then, and judging he lacked 
sufficient on-site resource~ with which to re-establish 
the colony or a whale fishery, de Vries sailed with 
his men to Manhattan, in March, 16 33. Not for: thirty 
years, when Pieter Cornelisz Plockhoy of Zcrikzee 
planted his Mennonite colony on the site of Zwaanen­
dael, was rhc area re-settled. 

[ 10 J 

As described in I 6 5 0 by a capable reporter, Adriaen 
van der Danek, lawyer from Breda and formerly schout 
of Rensselaerswyck, the disaster came about in this 
manner; 

'' '· ,,. The States' arms [ coat-of-arms J were also set 
up at this place [Zwa:1ne11dacl] in copper, but as 
they were thrown down by some mischievous savages, 
the commis there ver y firmly insisted upon, and de­
manded, the head of the offender. The Indians not 
knowing otherwise brought a head, saying it was 
his; and the affair was supposed to be all settled, 
hue some time afterward, wheo our people were 
working unsuspectingly in their fields, the Indians 
came in the guise of friendship, and distributing 
themselves among the Dutch in proportionate num­
bers, surprised and murdered them." 
Shore-lived ,the Dutch colony may have been, but 

to its estc1blishment Delaware owes its existence as a 
State. In 16 3 2 Charles I granted to Sir George Calvert, 
First Lord Baltimore, lands comprising the present 
State of Delaware. For years afterward his heirs claimed 
the territory as part of Maryland. However, the royal 
grant had dcsoribed the land as "hitherto uncultivated 
:i.nd occupied by savages." In the litigation that ensued, 
these words, coupled with proof that in 1631 Delaware 
had been colonized by a Christian nation, proved de­
cisive. The settlement at Zwaanendael compelled the 
conclusion that Delaware lands could not be included 
in Charles's grant. The claims of Lord Baltimore's 
heirs were therefore denied. 1 " 

In honor of Zwaancndael on the 300th anniversary 
of its founding, rhe State of Delaware erected at Lewes 
an impressive memorial building which duplicates in 
many features part of the Townhall of Hoorn. Based 
upon studies of the ancient Stadhuis by an architect 
sent to Holland for the purpose, the desigR produced 
in "Zwaancndacl House" an edifice which conforms 

( Continued on Page 16) 

'Lize Stilma. Hoorn (booklet pub. in Dutch and English 
at Baarn, Holland: Hollandia Ltd., 1963), p. 23, 

'Charles McKew Parr, Jan van Linschoten: The Dutch 
Marco Polo (New York; Thomas Y. Crowell Co., 1964). 
p. 7. 

'GeraJd L. Burke, The Making of Dutch Towns (New 
York: Simmons-Boardman Pub. Corp., 1960), p. 52. 

'Text of the charter is set out in Dutch and English, with 
coe1ous footnotes, at Van Rensselaer-Bowier Manuscripts, 
A.J.F. van Laer, ed. (Albany: University of the State of 
Nc,v Yo.rk, 1908 ), pp. 1!7-11.'i. 

'Besides the Amsterdam Chamber there were Chambers 
representing Zeeland, the Maas region, Friesland-Groningen 
and the Noorderkwartier, or North Quarter, of which th~ 
"Seven Towns" were Alkmaar, Edam, Enkhuizen, Hoon, 
Medemblik, Monnikendam and Purmerende. Ibid. ' 

'Ibid., pp. 137-153. 
'While PC?ssibly true, evidence has not been found to prove 

these colomsts came from Hoorn and named the river for 
that town. Both de Vries and van der Donck called the 
river "Hoerc-kil" in their writings. J. Franklin Jameson, ed. 
& trans., Narratives of New Netherland (New York: Charles 
Scribner's Sons, 1909), at pp. 226 and 313. 

'Stories persisting for many years that "one man escaped " 
or "two boys survived," appear to be without foundatio~. 
C. A. Wcslagcr, "Who Survived the Indian Massacre at 
Swancndacl ?", pub. in de Halve M aen, October 1965 p. 9. 

0A. van dcr Donck, "Representation of New Ncthcriand '' 
pub. in NarratiuP.s of New Netherland, op. cit., pp. 313-314. 
The word commis, meaning agent (in this instance Gilles 
Houssct, who bought the Zwaanendael land of the Indians 
for Godyn and the others in 1629), has been substituted 
for the word "commissary.'' 

"Virginia Cullen, History of Lewes, Delaware (Lewes: 
Delawa rr Coast Pre~s. 1 9.56) , p. 1 ~. 



THE COXSACKIE DECLARATION OF 1775 
H igh principle and rare courage shine t~~ough t~e 

faded writing on a document known as the Coxsackie 
Declar:1tion of Independence," signed May 17, 1775 by 
2 2 5 colonists - mostly of Dutch extraction - living 
011 the west side of the Hudson in what is now Greene 
County, N. Y ., and vicinity. Its draftsman is believed 
LO have been the H olland-schooled Rev. Johannes 
Schuneman (1712- 1794), pastor of the Dutch Re­
formed Church at Coxsackie. 

Drawn up over a year before the American Dec­
laration of Independence at Philadelphia, as pointed out 
by Olive Woodworth in her -recent article (DA.R 
Magazine, April 1969, pp.424-425), the Coxsackie 
declaration discloses complete awareness of events and 
issues of the time. It expresses the signers' resolve 
"never co become Slaves," flat opposition to •~oppressive 
Acts of che British Parliament," and plain intent to 
abide by decisions of the Continental Congress. 

Among che signatories were 11 Hallenbecks, n!ne 
Van Loons, seven DuBoises, and many others w1rh 
family n:imes also well known in the Holl.111d Socicry, 
mch as Hought:tling, Jansen, Osterhoudt, Schermerhorn, 
Spoor, Vandenburgh, Van Hoesen, Van Sch~ick, Van 
Slyck , V~n Vcchten and Van Wagenen. 

HOORN, NORTH HOLLAND 
( Continued from Page t 0) 

closely w ihe Townhall's nrchitccrnre. Especially well 
l'calizcd details :tre the richly ornameOLCJ gnblc copped 
wirh a statue of Jc Vries, the carved doonvay, :md lhc 
identical coursini: ,111d jointing of rhe brickwork. 

The memorial w:is dedicated May 7, 1932 before 
a hrge cuucoursc of ciri1.cns, who heard the dc:,dic:1t0ry 
address by U.S. Senator H.1slings of Debware, and 
speeches by the State Governor, Netherlands Minister 
to the U.S., and other dignitaries. Zwaanendacl H ouse, 
now a museum, open daily cxccpr Mom.bys, contains 
mmy exhibits related ro Dcl111vnre history, :tnd also 
to the Durch, such as bonnc~s, wooden shoes, and a 
wooden lwek.plank u~-ed in 17th century Hoorn to 
~hapc cookies for St. Nicholas Day. 

Let us now consider the original Stadhuis. Since 179 5 
the municipality of Hoorn has occupied as its Townhall 
a building of notable antiquity that had been used for 
civic purposes almost continuously from the time of 
rhe Reformation. Originally two convent houses which 
were joined together in 1429 - that of the Hierony­
mites, dating back to 1385, and that of St. Cecilia, 
founded 1402 - cite interiors were extensively altered 
beginning in t h~ 16th century. For a time t he town 
schools were housed in the rear of these premises while 
the front part, and a chapel built about 1429, were 
converted into quarters and a dining room for delegate~ 
to the Council of the "Seven T owns" in the region. 

On the front of the Townh~ll that faces Nicuw­
straac appear the arrns, dating from 1613 , of the Seven 
Provinces, HolJand, \~ e.st Friesland, and the Seven 
Towns. In 1796, :1 year after t he abolition of the 
Seven Towns Council, the burgomaster and aldermen 
of f-loorn he.Id d1eir fir~t meeting in this building. Since 
chcn no great changes have been made. The council 
chamber is well worth seeing for its beautiful panelling, 
a mantelpiece of 178 8, and chandeliers and chairs which 
an' noteworthy specimens of craftsmanship. Over the 

( 16 J 

mantelpiece hangs a vivid picture of the famous naval 
battle on the Zuyder Zee near Hoom jn 1573, painted 
in 1663 and placed within an exquisitely carved frame. 

W hile relatively few people came to America from 
Hoorn during chc "Golden Age," the majority of i ts 
cm1grnnts founded families which flolll'ish to chis <lay. 
/\n exception ro tl,i~ was David l?icterszen de Vries, 
who, after seeking lO establish parroonships in the 
1630s .ind '40s :it Zwnanendnel, Staten Island :m<l 
Vricscndael, rc1 urned to his :1.nccscral city, Hoorn. Born 
about 15 94 in Prance, of Durch p:1rcnts (his father 
wn.~ from Hoorn) , an<l a resident of Holland from 
childhood, he won favor.,blc notice as a sea captain, 
administrator and ordnance cxpen from voyages t-o 
rhe Mediterranean and chc Ease Indies while still a 
young 111,111. Highly compcccrit, though unlucky in 
bis American vc.nnires, de Vries in 165 f published his 
journal, which for its straighcforw:ird sryle and wealth 
of detail provides one of thi;- best contemporaneous 
n-:counts of New Nethed.rnd. 11 

Well k nown American families, such as the Van 
Hor~s and H.1rin~s, relate back to pioneers who em­
igrated to Amcric:1 from Hoorn. ' 2 At least four men 
are recorded with the place-name " van H oorn" in ad­
dition to their given names and patronymics: Jan 
Cornelisz, Sibout Cla~ssen, Reindert Jansen, and Christ­
i.in B.1l'cnc.~. The l,1sr mentioned, however, was more 
likely .1 l>:tnc or of Danish descent Jlthough his de­
sccndnnts ;tdoptcd the surname Yan Horn. J an Pictcrsc 
1-1:tring, d1oughc LO be descended from the g:1Jlant Jan 
I larini of Hoorn, killed in the Zuydcr Zee baulc of 
1573 , was born in 1633 and settled at New Amsterdam 
in 1660. His wife Grietjc Co'.1,yns wa.~ a daughter of 
Coiyn Gerrits from Pettcn. 

/\norhc-r colonist, Harmen Bastjacn, VisscJicr, came 
here from Hoorn about 1639. A carpcntC'r by trade, 
he .111c.l twn other men ran a sawmill on Governors 
Tsbnd for a time. Later on, with his wife Hester 
Ticrcks .tnd children , 1-l:irmcn removed to Bcverwyck. 
In 1647 :incl bcc.1me ~u1·vcyor of Albany in 1667. His 
fo thcr, BasLiaen t-farmcasr de Vysd.1cr, was stiU Jiving 
,1l Hoorn in 167 L Other Hoorn residents who settled 
in New Netherland were Pieter Jans:t. de Boer, in 1648, 
and Jan Gouwenburg, in 1658. 

Among the women of Hoorn who became bride.~ in 
America was M:irietjc Jacobs-i;, &1ughtcr of Jacob Wal­
in~~ VJn Winkle and Tryncje Jacobs. She m:1rricJ, 
firH, Pieter J:tns Slot, in 1663; :111cl second, J an Dema­
rest, son of the Huguenot leader David Demarest, in 
1692. Lcuntjc Pieters, who had relatives in Hoorn, 
marricJ Corn cl is Jan 7. Cloppcnburg, who died in 16 5 9. 
There were three sisters named Pieters from Iloorn: 
SaJ'a, wife of J an Janszen Schcpmoes from Delft; E li­
zabeth, wife of Dirck Mayers from H oorn; and 
M:1rietje. In 165 5 Janneke Dircks "van H oorn," pos­
sibly the daughter of Dirck Mayers and Elizabeth 
Pieters, married Michicl Rembout "van Amsterdam" 
at New Amsterdam. 

----
"D. P. de Vries, Korts Hi.ttoricael ends Journaele Aentey­

ckeninge ("Short Historical and Jo11mal-Notes), pub. 
Alkmnar, 1655. 1 lis Jikc11ess as shown on the engraved 
frot11ispicc.·c is reprml 11ccd on Page 9, courtesy of the Rare 
Book Oiv., N. Y. Public· Library. 

"Details whid1 fol'low are mainly based on pa.rt ol unpllb. 
M ss. rnptioocd ''Colonists from Hoorn," by Williwn J. 
Hoffman. i11 library or New York Genealogical & Biograph­
ical Soc 
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At a Oourt held at Lewes for the County of SUesex by th& K1nge 

authority and by comm1esion from William Penn propriatary and Oov­

emor of Pennsylvania and terr1tor1ea thereunto belonging the gth. 

10th. and ll th. daya ot the 11th. month 1682 Juatioe1 present 

William Davall Luko Wateon, John Roads, Edward. Southern, Robert 

Rart, John ltiphaYen. 

upen the Petit!Gn ot BdtiJnd arren the Oourt grant 

unto htm the Land of th.a Cape commonly called Cape lnlGpfm lying 

on the lort.h Bast side ot the Creek formerly ealled the Whol"ekill 

to make a Coney W~rr1n on and liberty to build a nou•e and seat• 
' . 

Warriner upon the eaid Land upon the Condition that the ttm~_er 

and feed of th~ ~•id Land Marshee thereunto belonging be and for­

ever her-eaf'ter lye in common toJ' the uae or the lnhab1 tan \1 ot the 

Town. er Lewea and G&unty or SUaeex aa also tree Liberty tor any or 

all Gf the Inhabi tan t.s of aaid County to fieh get etake otf their 

oyat,ra and Oookl.eshelle and g'ather plums oranberryei and Huckle)l­

berry_a on the at.id Land aa they shall think tit. always prov1de~ 

that. no person Whatsoever th.all not nwit or kill any R•bbite or 

Ha.re~ on the sa1d Land without leave and consent. of him the said 

Bdmund.Warren hie EXecutorB administrators or Assigns. 

( A 'l'rue Copy) 

, 



neoe1ved Ju.ly 1ath 1797 at Kr. lan1el Woolf 

tbe sum of seven pounds & no m1111ngs on 

Account or the allowance made to the 

•~inm1ssionere tor l&ying the Streets of Lewes 
--

l'196 

_:j,." ._ J( - li,.u ,, - ,4 C4~ 

l7ft,. 
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State Joins Lewes in Tercentenary 
Appropriate Exercises to Feature Celebration 

By GEORGE SHTOFMAN 

''Here was the Cradling of a State. That Delaware exists 
as a separate commonwealth is due to this colony." 

T
HFJF.!'El immortal wo.rd1:1 by George Dancroft, t be 
historian, are inscribed on a n:ionumen:L erected 
in Lewes by the State of D elaware to commemo­

rate the settlement on that 
spot of the first Dutch 
colony, under Captain David 
Pieterssen De Vries, in 1631. 
The two brief sentences 
fully explain why the entire 
State of Delaware should 
join with Lewes on Satur­
day, }\'lay 7, in observing 
the 300th anniversary of the 
settling of the Dutch in 
Zwaanendael. 

oil in Europe, and to cultivate the ground. The colony 
settled in Zwaanendael, only to be surprised one day 
with a11 attack hy the lndiam. With the exception of 
one who fled to other parts, all the Dutch col.onists were 
~u~. • 

The story handed down 

But, has someone in­
terrupted to ask, "Where 
is Zwaa.nen<lacl?" vVell, to 
answer that question, it 

, .. Tl,e De Vrir,s Il-fonum1;nt ... 

about the slaughter, reveals 
that an lndian chief went tu 

the settlement of the 'pale­
faces' and took a tin sheet 
bearing the Dutch coat of 
arms, intending to make 
tobacco pipes from it. The 
Dutch expressed their re­
sentment. of this action to 
the Indians, who later re­
turned with the head of the 
offending chief. Historians 
appear to disagree as to 
whether the Indians took 

must be explained Urnt Lewes was not always known by 
its present name. In fact, the fir:;t recorded me of the 
name, Le\\ e~, appears on January 9, 168'.1. However, long 
before that date, the Dutch had a nrune for iL They 
called it Zwaanentlael, or Valley of t he Swaw,, in 1681. 

Yes it wus t.l:.e present town of Lc"cs, with it., 
colorful history, that was re8ponsible for Delaware being 
a separate State. And thaL is the 1·eason all patriotic 
Delawareans should participale enthusiastically in the 
tercentenary celebration at Lewe.~. It is not a Lewes 
tercentenary celebration it is a Delaware tercentenary 
celebration, taking place at Lewes. 

Captain De Vries sent the first Dutch expedition 
to these shores in 1631 to catch whales for the sale of 

••. Memorial Park Originally a Fmt in War or 1812 . 
!.,r 

this course on their own initiative, or whether they were 
ordered to <lo so by one of the leaders of the Dutch 
colony. Those who claim the Indians Look il upon 
themselves to decapitate the chief, write that the Dutch 
repr imanded them for tl1e action. This, it is clairnetl, 
aroused the ire of the Indians, who stormed the colony, 
SUl'pl'ising the men at work in the fields, and slaying 
them. Those contending the Indians were ordered to 
kill their chief, argue that they became incensed over 
this and wiped out the Dutch colony. 

On ,Tune £0, 1632-the same year in which Captain 
De Vl'ics hrougl1L liis second expedition to Zwaanendael, 
whel'e he remained for but a short while-King Charles 
I, of England, granted to Lord Baltimore a tract. of 

(Continued on P1t~e 26) 

, .. St. I'ctcrs Chur"h al Lewes .. , 



MEDFORD H. WHCTE, C.P.A. [DEL.) 
BARRY J. MACK, C.P.A. (PA.) R.M.A. (N. J.) 

C. E. ISZARD, C.P.A, (JJEL:J ASSOCIATE 

WHITE & MACK 
ACCOUNTANTS AND AUDITORS 

DUPONT BUILDING 

WILMINGTON, DEL. 

SYSTEM INSTALLATIONS 
SPECIAL INVESTIGATIONS 
MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING 

Jnnuities 

Maximum Life Income 

Absolute Security 

). PAUL HEINEL 
THE TR.AVELER.S 

2074 duPont Bldg. Telephone 5171 

Where UQUALITYand FLAVOR'' 
are appreciated 

E1F~ft.Mqr 
All Pork Sausage and Scrapple 

ARE ALWAYS PREFERRED 

They're Guaranteed by 
BESTE PROVISION CO. Wilmington 

H. W. Vandever Company .............. ....... , ... , 
Van Sant Brothers ........... . ... . ..... , . . ...... . . . 
D1·. B. R. Veasey.............. . . . .......... . 
U niun Park Motors, Inc .. , ... , . . . .. , , ....... . 
Walker-Snyder-Conly Company , ........... . 
Christopher L. Ward, ,Jr ............. .. .. ........... . 
CJiristopher L. Ward.. . . . . . .. , ..... , . , , .. 
Herbert H. Ward, Jr.. . . . . . . . . . .... .. .... . 
Alfred D. Warner, ,fr....... . . . . . . . . . . . . , .. .. . 
Charles Warner.... . . .. .... ..... ... ... . 
\Varner Company ...... , . . . . . ... . . , , . , .. . 
Irving VVarncr, , . . . . . . . . . ... ...... .. , .. . 
J. L. )Varner .............. . .. . . . . . .... . . .... . .... . 
L. S. 'Wchor,,....... . , ... , ..... , , , , , , 
''Veiner's Market.. . . . . . . . . . . ... .. ... . 
WIL::\1-WDEL Broadcasting Stations. . . . ..... , .. 
II. W. Wenninger & Son , . . ...... .. , ... , .. .. . 
Westinghouse Electric Supply Company .. ...... , .... . 
W. E. White................. . . .........•.. 
White & Mack, Inc. . . . . ...... . , ..... . ... . 
G. Morris Whiteside, II .... . _ ... _ . 
H. M. Whitten....... . . .. . . . .. .. - .. 
Whiteford & Huff ........ , . . . . . .. . . . ..... .. .. . 
Wilmington Auto Company . ... . ....... .. , .... , .... . 
Wilmington F'urnit,ne Company. . . . . . . ........... . 
Wilmington Provision Ct>mpauy.. . . . .. . , ...... , . , . 
Wilmingt.on Pa.per Box Company .. . ..... . . .. .. ... . . 
Wilmington Savings Pund Society . .. .......... .... . . 
,vilmington Trust Compun,y. . . . . . . . . . . . . ..... , .... . 
Wilmington Dry Goods Company . . . ..... ..... . ..... . 
Thomas 1V. Wilson... . . ........ , , .. . 
Wilmington Electrical Specialty Company 

( Willard Wilson) ............ . .... . . ......... . 
Wilson Linc, Inc ... , , . . . . . , . . . . . . .....•• 
F. W. '\.Yoolworth Company ....... . ..... _ .... . 
William P. Worthington .......... . ..... ........... . 
Worth Steel Company. . ..... .. .... . 
D011ation.......... . .... . 
Goldey College (Rmployces) . . . .. ..... , . , , 
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lan<l, comprising the present State of Delaware. Fol' 
years, Lord Baltimore 'and his heirs claimed possession 
of it as a part of their Province of Maryland. 

Only because of the establishment of the first 
Dutch settlement at Zwaanendael in 1631, did Lord 
Baltimore's claim fail. The reason the settlement at 
Lewes prevented the establishment of Lord Baltimore's 
claim wa.s that in the patent to him, King Charles had 
described the land as "hitherto uncu~tivated" and 
occupied by savages. It was the contention of the Dutch 
and English not allied with Lord Baltimore, that the 
western shore of the Delaware river, having been 
colonized prior to 163.2 by a Christian nation, must be 
excepted out of the king's grant. vVith this claim main­
tained and upheld, Delaware became established as a 
State within its present boundaries, h11t only after con­
siderable squabbling. 

Lewes, due to its location at the Delaware Break­
water, has the theme for a story tJ>at might sound like 
fiction, in outlining its interesting history. Its most 
novel expel'iences inclurlc being- plundered by the 
members of a pil'atc ship and being bombarded by a 
British fleet, under Commander He1·esford, during the 
War of 1812. 

Threats to lay waste towns which failed to pay them 
tribute were made by French privateers during the 
latter part of the seventeenth century. On August .27, 
1689, l11rench pirntes landed in Lewes and pillaged 
practically every home in the town. 



It was in Lewes that the largesL assemblage ever 
to gather in this State, met on July 28, 1774, in sympathy 
with the people of Boston, because the British Parlia­
ment closed their port, following tbe famous Boston Tea 
Party. Prompt action for home righls was taken after 
Thomas McKean, one of Llie signers of the Dedaration 
of Independence, had delivered a most inspiring talk. 

The first sea fight of the Revolution was fought 
off Lewes in Xfa.rch, 1776, when an American privateer 
with a crew of lfl defeated a liritish sloop, with a crew 
of ~O. On August ~8, 1782, the last sea fight of the 
Hcvolntion took place off Lewes, and another British 
boat was taken. 

During the Volar of 1812, Commander .T. Beresford 
sent the following message to "the first magistrate of 
Lewistown," upon the arrival of the British fleet at the 
Capes of the Delaware: 

"Sir:-As soon as you receive this, I must request 
you will send twenty-five bullocks, with the pro­
portionate quantity of vegetables and hay, to the 
Poitiers, for the use of the Brittanie l\fojesLy's Squadron, 
now at this anchorage, which shall be immediately paid 
for at the Philadelphia prices. 

"If you refuse to comply with this request, I 8huH 
he under the necessity of rlcstroying your town." 

The magistrate refused to meet the demands, with 
the result that Lewes underwent a bombardment for 
two clays- April {l and 7, 1813. A door, part of which 
was shot away during the bombardment, is now in 
SL. Peter's Churc\1, Lewes. It was taken from the 
Rodney l'lace. 

An attempt was made by the British to land in 
Lewes, but they were called hack by a sigual from their 
squadron. Col. Ramncl ·, Davis, in command o the 
volunteers and militia at Lewes, resorted Lo a ruse, 
marching his men along the waterfront up lo where, 
unseen by the enemy, they could enter a back street of 
the town. Then, they countermarched to llie waterfront 
aud along it, going and returning, thus deceiving the 
British into believing that an advancing army was 
flooding troops into Lewes. It is the claim of Lewes 
residents that cornstalks were carried by many of the 
marcliers to make it appear that they had guns. The 
fleet left on April 8, without gaining anything it desired 
from Lhe brave little town. 

German submarines appeared off the coast of 
Lewes in l!H8, <luring the Vforlrl WaT. Jn fact, in that 
year, the tanker, "Herbert L. Pratt" was sunk hy a 
mine near Lewes. A pilotboat later pickc<l up several 
mines off Lewes. 

Lewes boasts of being the home of six late Goverc 
no1·s of Delaware. They were Governors Daniel Rodney, 
Caleb Rodney, Samuel Paynter, Joseph lVlaull, ])avid 
Jla.11 and Ebe W. Tunnell. 

lVfTs. Roman Tammany, a member of the Lewes 
Tercentenary Commission, now occupies the home in 
which Governor Tunnell lived. Henry Rice lives in 
the home of Governor Daniel Rodney. The home of 
GovernoT Hall is located on the opposite side of the 
street on which has been erected the building patterned 

afler the old Town Hall, of Hoorn, Holland, from where 
the De Vries expeditions sailed. The original Hoorn 
building was erected in 1613. 

'J'he quaint structure, built this year to commemo­
rate the landing of the Dutch in Lewes in 1031, will be 
dedicated at the tercentenary celebration in Lewes on 
May 7. E. William Martin, of Wilmington, was the 
a1·chitect, and he made a special trip to J loom, for the 
purpose of making a close study of the original building. 
He founrl that some of the present building has been 
restored, but not exactly as it was or·iginally. Going to 
the museum, he obtained <lrawings of the building, and 
made a special study of them. 'l'he brick used on the 
hnilding, was made to match a brick brought ovet· from 
Jloorn and in existence at the time De Vries sailed. 

The huilding was erected by A. L. Lauritsen, Wil­
mington contracLor. It measures 18 feet by 2-5 feet. It 
has cas.ernent windows, and the shutt.e1·s are of a com­
bination red and white colol'ing. A museum will be 
locateJ on the' firsl floor, whi 1e the library will be 
on the second floor. Jla.ny articles, of historic value, 
are being given or loaned to the Lewes Tercentenary 
Commission, for display in the museum at the cele­
bration. 

A Dutch coat of arms, sent to Lewes several years 
ago by queen ,Vilhelmina, of llol!anrl, has been placed 
over the door leading Lo the museum. A picture of the 
Queen, which she also sent to Lewes, will he hung in the 
building. 

The principal address of the celebration will be de­
livered by United States Senatol' lhnicJ'" 0. Hastings, 
of Delaware. ,T. H. Van lloyen, the Netherlands :\linis­
ter, will l'cprcsent his goveenment at the celebration and 
will speak. Among others to take pa.rt. in the exercises 
will be Governor C. Douglass Buck, U. S. Senator John 
G. Townsend, Jr., Cougressnut.n Uohcrt G. Houston 
and :VIayor U. W. Hocker ol' Lewes. l\.fusic will he 
furnisher! by the Drum aud Hugle Corps of Delaware 
Post, No. 1, American Legion. 

The members of the Lewes Tercentenary Com­
mission, who are working diligently to make this 
celebration one of lasting remembrance to Dela ware 
citizenry, are: Captain Harry V. Lyons, of Lewes, 
chairman; Judge Richard S. Rodney, of New Castle; 
Christopher L. ,vard, attomey and fiuthoT; Congress­
man Robert U. Houston, of Georgetown; Mrs. Walker 
Mifflin, of Dovel', and Mrs. Ronmn Tammany and l\Irs. 
'William P. Orr, of Lewes. Donald R. .M.orton is secretary 
of the Commission. 

!teams and reams of copy conk\ he written a,bout 
the history of the town of Lewes, and plans for the 
tercentenary r.elebration. But, there is a limit to every­
thing. And the editor of this publication 8U:YS the1·c is 
a limit to this article. 

So, in closing, is it any wonder that Lewes takes 
great p1•irle in its history 1md in its tcl'centenary celebra­
tion? Delawareans should pay fitting tribute to the 
8ite which was respon8ible for this being a separate 
State, by joining Lewes in the tcrccntennry celebration .. 
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